
  

  
 
 
 

AGENDA 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, February 8, 2016 at 7:30 p.m. 

Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, Connecticut 

 
 
CALL TO ORDER: 
ROLL CALL: 
 

PUBLIC HEARING 
 

1. File #2015-11; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 322; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Variance 
from Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard 
setback by seven feet for a 576 +/- square foot detached garage; Renata Maglietti, applicant; Renata 
and Russell Maglietti, owners 

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS: 
 
1. File #2015-11; 145 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 322; Parcel 1850145; Zone R-2; Variance 

from Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard 
setback by seven feet for a 576 +/- square foot detached garage; Renata Maglietti, applicant; Renata 
and Russell Maglietti, owners 
 

OTHER BUSINESS: 
 
1. Approval of Meeting Minutes from November 09, 2015 and November 30, 2015 
2. Discussion of Standard Enforcement Zoning Procedures  
3. Staff Report 
 
ADJOURNMENT: 

















































 - 1 - 

  
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Regular Meeting 
Monday, November 9, 2015 at 7:30 pm 

Library Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, Connecticut 

 
 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Brainard called the Regular Meeting of November 9, 2015 to order at 7:30 
p.m.  
 
PRESENT: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and Walter LeGeyt 
(Alternate) 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Zoning Enforcement Officer Emily Anyzeski and Recording Secretary Jennifer Scott 
 
Mr. LeGeyt was seated as a Regular Member by R. Brainard. 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION TO THE AGENDA: Mr. Brainard proposed modifying the agenda so that File #2015-9; 
23 Canton Valley Circle be addressed first instead of last at the Public Hearing and Regular Meeting.  He 
also proposed adding a discussion item at the end of the Regular Meeting for the purpose of talking about 
zoning violation citations. 
 
MOTION: Mr. Brainard moved to modify the agenda so that File #2015-9; 23 Canton Valley Circle be 
addressed first instead of last at the Public Hearing and Regular Meeting.  Mr. Adajian seconded the  
motion.  The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0.   
 
MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved to modify the agenda so that a discussion item is added at the end of the 
Regular Meeting for the purpose of talking about zoning violation citations.  Mr. Kerr seconded the 
motion.  The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0.    
 
REMARKS BY CHAIR: None 
 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 

 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Brainard 

 
1. File #2015-9; 23 Canton Valley Circle; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1670023; Zone R-2; Variance from 

Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard setback by 
one foot for an 841 +/- square foot attached garage; Jennifer Pirro, applicant; Jennifer Pirro and 
Michael Mulhall, owners. 

 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and 
Walter LeGeyt 
 
The applicant/ owner, Jennifer Pirro sat before the members to present her application.  Mr. Brainard 
advised Ms. Pirro that there had been an error made with her variance application.  The application 
indicates that the side yard setback variance she is seeking is for the purpose of constructing a 



 - 2 - 

detached garage (accessory structure) on her property.  In reality the garage she intends to construct 
will be an attached addition to the principal structure of her home.  The regulations call for a minimum 
side yard setback of 15 feet for an accessory structure and a minimum side yard setback of 20 feet 
for principal structure.  Therefore, the applicant will actually need a variance of 6 feet instead of the 1 
foot for which she originally applied.  Mr. Brainard also informed Ms. Pirro that because of this 
oversight, the legal notice that was issued to the public regarding her application and the letters sent 
out to the abutting property owners were all incorrect. 
 
Mr. Brainard went on to advise Ms. Pirro that she will have to submit a corrected application and 
reissue amended letters to her neighbors or have them sign off on the correction.  He recommended 
that the Land Use office waive all fees for the re-filing of this application. 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Adajian moved to close the Public Hearing for File #2015-9; 23 Canton Valley Circle.  
Mr. Brainard seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0.  
 

2. File #2015-7; 540 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone R-3; Variance from 
Section 7.3.C.1.J, Standards of Governmental Signs in Residential Districts; Requesting a 75 +/- 
square foot identification sign to be mounted on the eastern side of the building; Harold Freytag, 
applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner. 
 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and 
Walter LeGeyt 
 
Harold Freytag, applicant, and Jeff O’Neill, representative for the owner, North Canton Volunteer Fire 
Association, presented their application to the Commission.  The gentlemen stated that since the 
North Canton Fire Station was constructed in 2006, it has never had a sign identifying it to the public.  
They believe that because the station is set back 75 feet from the road, it requires larger lettering on 
the signage than allowed by the regulation.  The regulation states that the maximum sign area for a 
governmental sign in a residence district is 24 square feet.  They presented the members with 
examples of lettering that would conform to the regulation and also lettering sized for the 75 square 
foot signage they are requesting.  Mr. Freytag and Mr. O’Neill maintained that a sign containing the 
smaller lettering called for by the regulation could not easily be seen from the road.  Mr. Freytag said 
that the sign they are proposing would be unlit and simply read, “North Canton Station.” 
 
Mr. Brainard stated that he has often encountered residents of North Canton who have no idea that 
the building in question is a fire station.  The design and location of the fire station do not make it 
easily identifiable.  Mr. O’Neill commented that they actually designed the station to look like a big 
horse barn to fit the landscape of the area.  Mr. Brainard stated that in the interest of public safety, if a 
person needs to know that the firehouse is there, it is not easily identifiable as it currently stands.  Mr. 
Brainard clarified with Mr. Freytag and Mr. O’Neill that the hardships in this case are that the design 
and the location of the building are uncharacteristic of a firehouse and therefore it is not easily 
identifiable to the public. 
 
Mr. Freytag and Mr. O’Neill also presented the members with two drawings drafted by Canton Sign.  
One drawing depicted a 24 square foot sign on the side of the fire station and the other showed a 75 
square foot sign.  Both had a vantage point from Cherry Brook Road and were drawn to scale. 
 
Mr. Dotson asked the applicants, as professionals in public safety, if they believe the signage needs 
to be as large as they are requesting.  Both gentlemen replied in the affirmative. 
 
Ms. Anyzeski advised the group as a matter of information, that even if this building was located in 
the business district, at 75 square feet, the signage they are requesting would still need a variance.  
For buildings in the business district located less than 150 feet from the road, the total building 
signage can not exceed 50 square feet. 
 



 - 3 - 

Mr. Brainard asked if there was anyone from the public who wished to speak.  Kory Vincent of 17 
Trailsend Drive spoke in favor of the request for variance.  As a police officer for a neighboring 
agency, it is his opinion that the sign is necessary for the safety of the Town.  Dave Dzenutis of 512 
Cherry Brook Road spoke saying that he thinks the sign would be nice.  But, he does not believe that 
anyone would be going there for help as the building is vacant unless there is a fire call.  Mr. Brainard 
replied that there is an emergency phone there.  Mr. Dzenutis asked if the Town could install a road 
sign indicating the location of the fire station.  Mr. O’Neill replied that there are yellow painted 
indicators on the roadway but that is not easily noticed by motorists traveling 50 mph down the road. 
 
Mr. Brainard read into the record a letter that was sent to the Land Use Coordinator by Patricia J. 
Goodwin of 552 Cherry Brook Road.  She spoke against the request for variance stating that it would 
encourage other entities such as the post office to hang similar signs.  In addition, she said that the 
sign would be a waste of money that the fire station solicits from the public.  Mr. Freytag replied that 
the NCVFA no longer solicits money from the public. 
 
Mr. O’Neill asked the members to please consider what would be in the best interest of the 
community when making their decision. 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Adajian moved to close the Public Hearing for File #2015-7; 540 Cherry Brook Road.  
Mr. Kerr seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0.  
 

3. File #2015-8; 17 Trailsend Drive; Assessor’s Map 32; Parcel 5360017; Zone R-2; Variance from 
Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard setback by 
13 feet for an 80 square foot shed; Kory Vincent, applicant/ owner. 

 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and 
Walter LeGeyt 
 
Kory Vincent, applicant/ owner was in attendance to present his application.  He stated that he is 
looking to put an 8 foot X 10 foot shed to the left of his existing garage.  He stated that the area where 
the shed will be placed is a paved continuation of his driveway.   Mr. Vincent said that his hardship in 
this case is that the rest of his property has a sloped terrain making the area next to his garage the 
only possible location for the shed.  Mr. Vincent presented photos to the members of his property and 
the proposed location for the shed for their review. 
 
Mr. LeGeyt asked if Mr. Vincent could possibly store the items he plans to store in the shed inside his 
garage.  Mr. Vincent answered that he can not because he is currently storing a classic car inside his 
garage.  Mr. Adajian confirmed with the applicant that the entire area of the shed would be situated 
on the paved driveway surface up on cinder blocks and it would not create any drainage obstructions. 
 
There was a little bit of confusion about how much of a variance the applicant needs.  The current 
regulation states that the minimum side yard setback for an accessory structure is 15 feet.  Mr. 
Vincent’s garage, which predates the current regulation, is constructed 10 feet from the side yard 
property line and is therefore 5 feet beyond what the current regulation allows.  Mr. Vincent is seeking 
another 8 feet so that his shed will be just 2 feet from the property line.  In other words, the applicant 
is requesting a 13 foot variance. 
 
Mr. Vincent added that his abutting neighbor on the left side has no issue with the variance being 
granted.  He stated that the neighbor’s property slopes upward from Mr. Vincent’s driveway so it 
would not be possible for him to build anything on that land.  
 
Mr. Brainard asked Mr. Vincent about the right and rear sides of his home.  The applicant answered 
saying that there is a flat area on the right which contains his leaching field.  All other areas are either 
sloped or tree covered.  Mr. Brainard said he was looking for other possible places to locate the shed 
because he sees two major issues with this request for variance.  First, a 13 foot variance is a 



 - 4 - 

sizeable request.  Secondly, with the shed in the proposed location, access to the rear of Mr. 
Vincent’s house would be cut off which could create a safety issue in the event of an emergency. 
 
Mr. Vincent responded saying that for emergency access, the neighboring driveway could be used to 
get to the rear of his home.  He added that the hydrant is located out in front of his neighbor’s 
property which is another reason why his driveway would be the most logical source of entry.  Mr. 
Dotson asked if as the owner of the home, Mr. Vincent saw a safety concern.  Mr. Vincent replied that 
he did not.    
 
Mr. Brainard asked if anyone from the public would like to speak.  Harold Freytag of 175 Case Street 
said he felt for Mr. Vincent’s situation and offered that if his variance were not granted, maybe he 
could consider a narrower shed. 

 
MOTION:  Mr. Adajian moved to close the Public Hearing for File #2015-8; 17 Trailsend Drive.  Mr. 
LeGeyt seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 
 

REGULAR MEETING 
 

PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:  
 
1. File #2015-9; 23 Canton Valley Circle; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1670023; Zone R-2; Variance from 

Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard setback by 
one foot for an 841 +/- square foot attached garage; Jennifer Pirro, applicant; Jennifer Pirro and 
Michael Mulhall, owners. 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved to deny the requested variance for File #2015-9; 23 Canton Valley 
Circle due to incorrect information being included in the Legal Notice and also in the abutting property 
owners’ notifications.  Mr. Dotson seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 
 

2. File #2015-7; 540 Cherry Brook Road; Assessor’s Map 7; Parcel 1850540; Zone R-3; Variance from 
Section 7.3.C.1.J, Standards of Governmental Signs in Residential Districts; Requesting a 75 +/- 
square foot identification sign to be mounted on the eastern side of the building; Harold Freytag, 
applicant; North Canton Volunteer Fire Association, owner. 

 
MOTION:   Mr. Brainard moved to grant the requested variance for File #2015-7; 540 Cherry Brook 
Road and allow for the installation of a governmental identification sign for up to 75 square feet.  The 
sign shall be in the design and location as per the exhibit presented which will have the Chairman’s 
signature and date.  This variance will be in effect so long as the building at 540 Cherry Brook Road 
is used as an active fire station.  The reason for granting this variance is that because of the design 
and location of the building, there is a need for a larger sign for general public identification and 
safety.  Mr. Dotson seconded the motion which passed unanimously, 5-0-0.   
 
Mr. LeGeyt took a moment to commend the North Canton Fire Department and Mr. Freytag for 
keeping this service going despite covering such a large area with not a lot of help. 

 
3. File #2015-8; 17 Trailsend Drive; Assessor’s Map 32; Parcel 5360017; Zone R-2; Variance from 

Section 3.4.E.2, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Accessory Structures; Reduction of side yard setback by 
13 feet for an 80 square foot shed; Kory Vincent, applicant/owner. 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Dotson moved to grant the requested variance for File #2015-8; 17 Trailsend Drive 
allowing for a 13 foot northerly side yard variance for the purpose of installing an 8 foot by 10 foot 
storage shed only.  This variance shall be granted due to the unusual topography of the land 
restricting use otherwise.  The storage shed shall be situated no further forward than the front wall of 



 - 5 - 

the garage and no further back than the rear wall of the garage.  Mr. Adajian seconded the motion 
which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 
Mr. Brainard commented that there has been very few times in 28 years that variances of this 
magnitude have been granted.  He said that this variance is being granted because of the unusual 
topography of Mr. Vincent’s land and because of the close proximity of his neighbor’s driveway.  He 
added a reminder that since this variance has no expiration, we have to make certain it is only 
granted for the purpose of installing this shed so that in the future it is not used for something else or 
allowable along the length of the property. 
  

 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

 Mr. Dotson requested that a Special Meeting be scheduled to vote on File #2015-9; 23 Canton 
Valley Circle so that Ms. Pirro can commence on her project before winter comes and possibly 
delays her work further.  He said he does not want the error in the Land Use office to cost Ms. 
Pirro 30 more days if they are able to get a decision on her variance to her sooner and not have 
her wait until December’s Regular Meeting.  The group agreed and determined that so long as 
Ms. Pirro submitted all the necessary paperwork and the Legal Notice was able to be issued this 
week, a Special Meeting could hopefully be scheduled Monday, November 30, 2015.  Ms. 
Anyzeski said she would advise the applicant and work towards having the meeting arranged. 

 

 Mr. LeGeyt asked why he has not been made a Regular Member after being an Alternate 
Member for some time now. Mr. Brainard said that he made an inquiry about this and was told 
that Mr. LeGeyt would need to file some paperwork for the CAO’s office in order to become a 
Regular Member. 

 

1. Approval of meeting minutes from August 10, 2015 
 
MOTION: Mr. Adajian moved to approve the meeting minutes from August 10, 2015 as presented. 
Mr. Kerr seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 

2. Approval of 2016 Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting Schedule 
 
None of the members had issue with adopting the schedule as presented. 
 

3. Staff Report 
 

4. Zoning Violation Citations Discussion 
 

The members discussed some problems they see with the current process of issuing zoning violation 
citations and when they are or are not issued as a means of enforcement.   
 
Mr. Brainard made the suggestion that the members review the Town’s policies and procedures for 
issuing citations and think about what a better alternative might be.  Ms. Anyzeski added that if the 
members feel strongly enough, they can bring their alternative(s) before the Planning and Zoning 
Commission for consideration. 

 
 
AJOURNMENT:  Mr. Adajian moved to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals at 
9:13 p.m.  Mr. Kerr seconded the motion.  The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 
 
 



 - 1 - 

  
 
 

 
DRAFT MINUTES 

 
Zoning Board of Appeals 

Special Meeting 
Monday, November 30, 2015 at 7:30 pm 

Library Community Center, Room B 
40 Dyer Avenue, Canton, Connecticut 

 
 

CALL TO ORDER: Chairman Brainard called the Special Meeting of November 30, 2015 to order at 7:30 p.m.  
 
PRESENT: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and Walter LeGeyt (Alternate) 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Recording Secretary Jennifer Scott 
 
Mr. LeGeyt was seated as a Regular Member by R. Brainard. 
 
A quorum of the Commission is present. 
 
MODIFICATION TO THE AGENDA: None 
 
REMARKS BY CHAIR: None 

 
PUBLIC HEARING 

 
READING OF THE LEGAL NOTICE: Read by Mr. Brainard 

 
1. File #2015-10; 23 Canton Valley Circle; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1670023; Zone R-2; Variance 

from Section 3.4.E.1, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Principal Structures; Reduction of side yard 
setback by six feet for an 841 +/- square foot attached garage; Jennifer Pirro, applicant; Jennifer Pirro 
and Michael Mulhall, owners. 

 
Commissioners Seated: Robert Brainard, Christopher Kerr, Guerry Dotson, Gary Adajian, and 
Walter LeGeyt 
 
The applicant/ owner, Jennifer Pirro, sat before the members to present her application. Mr. Brainard 
reminded her that she must prove a hardship in this case in order to be granted the variance. He also 
informed Ms. Pirro of the steps she must take to obtain her permit if her requested variance is 
granted. 
 
Ms. Pirro stated that she wishes to construct an attached garage in front of her bonus room on the 
right side of her home if you were viewing it from the street. She said that the garage cannot be 
positioned behind the bonus room because that area has been designated as a flood zone. She also 
stated that the garage could not be built on the left side of the house because that is where her well is 
located. The proposed addition will be within the minimum front yard setback requirement but will 
encroach on the side yard setback by six feet. 
 
Mr. Dotson asked Ms. Pirro if she had discussed this with her neighbors and gotten letters stating that 
they are agreeable to the construction of her proposed garage. Ms. Pirro said that her neighbor to the 
right does have a letter but she was unable to pick it up from her today. 
 



 - 2 - 

Mr. Brainard noted that Ms. Pirro’s lot is not perfectly square. As you get closer to the road, the lot 
gets narrower. Mr. Brainard asked Ms. Pirro if the FEMA flood zone designation precludes her from 
putting an accessory building like a shed in the area behind her home. She answered that she has a 
shed in the back and the surveyor did not take issue with its location. Mr. Brainard said that in 1955 
when Ms. Pirro’s home and neighbor’s homes were built, the minimum side yard setback would have 
been 10 feet instead of the current 20 foot minimum. He asked Ms. Pirro if the other homes in her 
neighborhood have garages located as close to their property lines as what she is requesting. Ms. 
Pirro replied that they do and that her property is one of the only houses in the neighborhood without 
a garage and she also has one of the largest lots. Mr. Brainard and Ms. Pirro agreed that the 
construction of her proposed garage would be in keeping with the other properties in the 
neighborhood.    
 
Mr. Brainard confirmed the hardships in this case with Ms. Pirro. He said that the garage that she 
needs cannot be built on the left side of the home because it is already non-conforming. The rear of 
the home is not possible for the addition because it’s located in a flood zone. The only place left 
available for the garage would be on the right side of the home. He added that the small size and odd 
shape of Ms. Pirro’s lot makes it difficult to expand without encroaching on the minimum side yard 
setback requirement. 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Adajian moved to close the Public Hearing for File #2015-10; 23 Canton Valley Circle. 
Mr. LeGeyt seconded the motion, which passed unanimously, 5-0-0.  

 
REGULAR MEETING 

 
PUBLIC HEARING ACTIONS:  
 
1. File #2015-10; 23 Canton Valley Circle; Assessor’s Map 31; Parcel 1670023; Zone R-2; Variance 

from Section 3.4.E.1, Minimum Yard Setbacks for Principal Structures; Reduction of side yard 
setback by six feet for an 841 +/- square foot attached garage; Jennifer Pirro, applicant; Jennifer Pirro 
and Michael Mulhall, owners. 
 
MOTION:  Mr. Brainard moved to grant the requested six foot side yard variance for File #2015-10; 
23 Canton Valley Circle which shall be located on the right side of the residence if viewing the 
property from the street. This variance is only granted for the purpose of constructing the attached 
garage as shown on the drawing submitted by the applicant entitled “First Floor Plan” and signed by 
Chairman Brainard. The hardships in this case are the location of the house on the lot, the flood zone 
being situated in the rear of the lot, and the irregular shape of the lot. Mr. Dotson seconded the 
motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 

 
OTHER BUSINESS 
 

1. Discussion of Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures 
 
Mr. Brainard stated that the Planning and Zoning Commission has requested a Special Meeting with 
the Zoning Board of Appeals this coming Wednesday, December 2, 2015. He said that he thinks that 
the ZBA members should only attend if all of them can agree on what problems they see with the 
current Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures and on possible solutions to those problems. Mr. 
Brainard distributed a memo he recently drafted and read it to the members. The memo explained the 
issues the ZBA has identified with the current Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures and have 
been discussing for several months. Mr. Brainard said his plan is to read this memo aloud at the 
Special Meeting this week so long as the ZBA members agree with and approve its content. All of the 
members thought Mr. Brainard’s memo covered all of their concerns and were in agreement that is 
should be presented to Planning and Zoning as is.   
 
The group briefly discussed their thoughts on assigning different fine values to violators depending on 
the severity level of their violation. The majority of the members expressed that the fine should be 



 - 3 - 

same for all violations regardless of severity and should be the maximum $150 per day fine as is 
currently in place. They also discussed some flaws they see in the standard issue Notice of Violation 
letter and how it makes no reference to the violator’s right to appeal to the ZBA.  
 

2. Discussion of joint meeting with Planning and Zoning Commission 
 
The members stated their intent to attend a Special Meeting with Planning and Zoning on 
Wednesday, December 2, 2015 to discuss the current Standard Zoning Enforcement Procedures. 

 
AJOURNMENT:  Mr. Adajian moved to adjourn the Special Meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals at 
8:32 p.m. Mr. Kerr seconded the motion. The motion passed unanimously, 5-0-0. 
 
 
 


